FILED 11-27-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

# IN SUPREME COURT

## Case No. 2024AP000617-CR

## STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

CARTER A. NELSON,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

BRETT L. MCKELLAR Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1112894

Office of the State Public Defender Appellate Division 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4616 McKellarb@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner

#

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

1. When police fail to follow their department's own standard policies and procedures for vehicle inventory searches, should the inevitable discovery doctrine nonetheless be applied?

The circuit court did not address this question.

The Court of Appeals found that denying application of the inevitable discovery doctrine where police failed to comply with standard inventory search procedures would be "purely punitive" to the State.

#### **CRITERIA FOR REVIEW**

Police officers initially claimed that they viewed cocaine inside of Mr. Nelson's car in plain view through the car window as a basis for the car search. Police also claimed that they conducted a proper inventory search at the scene. The circuit court found the testimony of plain-view to be incredible and that police violated department policies relating to inventory searches. Thus, the circuit court suppressed the fruits of the search.

Relying on state and federal case law, the Court of Appeals reversed the circuit court and ruled that suppression would be purely punitive because officers would have conducted the inventory search at the police station, if not conducted at the scene. Thus, the inevitable discovery doctrine applied. This case presents the question of whether the inevitable discovery doctrine should apply when police fail to follow their department's standard policies for inventory searches.

This question presents a real and significant federal constitution issue for review. Wis. Stat. 809.62(1r)(a).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Nelson was charged with one count of possession of cocaine based on an incident which took place on June 20, 2023. (2). Subsequently, Mr. Nelson filed a motion to suppress all evidence derived from the unlawful police search of his vehicle. (10; App. at 70).

Suppression Hearing:

Evidence presented at the motion hearing established that, on June 20, 2023, New Berlin Police Officer Jack Goritz came upon a vehicle that was parked at an angle in the righthand lane of the road. (18:5-6; App. at 16-17).

Officer Goritz parked behind the vehicle, activated his emergency lights, walked up to the vehicle and peered inside the front passenger window, where he observed rifle rounds on the center console. (18:10; App. at 21). No one was in the vehicle and the car doors were closed upon arrival. (Ex. 1 at 0:10-0:24; Ex. 2 at 2:00-2:22). He testified at the hearing that he observed an identification card in a cup holder that was later determined to be Mr. Nelson's, and that he also saw a vial of cocaine underneath the card. (18:10, 16; App. at 21, 27).

While Officer Goritz waited for back-up squads, he determined through the Department of Transportation ("DOT") that the car was registered to Carter Nelson. (18:12; App. at 23). Officer Goritz attempted to contact Mr. Nelson from the phone numbers he retrieved, but was unsuccessful. (18:13; App. at 24).

Officer Goritz did not know how long the car had been sitting in the road. (18:15, 22; App. at 26, 33). He believed the car to be abandoned because it was illegally parked, Mr. Nelson was not present and unreachable, and the car was "cold" to the touch, which meant to him that it had been sitting for a while. (*Id.*).

When a back-up squad arrived, Officer Goritz informed them about observing ammunition in the center console, but made no reference to any vial of cocaine. (18:23; App. at 34). Eleven minutes after Officer Goritz arrived on the scene, he opened the front right passenger door, which was unlocked, and began to search the car along with other officers. (18:25; App. at 36). From observing Officer Goritz's body cam footage, it was the back-up officer who first saw the vial of cocaine. (Ex. 2 at 12:49:55). Officers retrieved the ammunition, a "Kwik Trip" card belonging to Mr. Nelson, and Mr. Nelson's identification card. (18:16; App. at 27). No keys were located in the vehicle. (18:19; App. at 30).

Officer Goritz testified as to his understanding of police department policies relating to inventory searches, in which he stated that if contraband is found inside a car, law enforcement may conduct an inventory search of the car. (18:17-18; App. at 28-29). He also stated that if the car was not searched at the scene, he would have searched it after it was towed. (18:27; App. at 38).

In making its determination regarding the merits of the motion, the circuit court stated:

Now, an inventory search under the protocol of the New Berlin Police Department is to take place back at the police department, not on the scene. So that part I don't know if it was really a legit inventory search, per se...

But certainly this, you know, in looking how you observed the vial underneath – underneath the license does not indicate to me that it was readily observable. It was underneath the license. And to be candid with you, it was up against the side wall of the cup holder underneath there, the way I saw you try to pick it up and bring it up the side of the cup holder. So I don't think you have a right to take a look at that at that juncture. You had to bring the car in for an inventory search, regular protocol of the department.

(18:38-39; App. at 49-50).

Page 7 of 12

The circuit court granted the defendant's motion to suppress. (18:40; App. at 51). The State then filed a motion for reconsideration. (App. at 55). The circuit court subsequently affirmed its ruling, finding that plain view did not apply because Officer Goritz could not have seen the cocaine prior to the search; additionally, the court found that the inventory search was improperly conducted prior to the tow. (25:15; App. at 68).

#### **Appellate Proceedings:**

The State appealed the circuit court's ruling. After briefing and case submission, the Court of Appeals reversed and remanded, holding that the cocaine would have been inevitably discovered. *State* v. *Nelson*, No. 2024AP617-CR, unpublished slip op. at ¶ 1 (November 6, 2024). In its reasoning, the court stated that:

...the inevitable discovery doctrine is a 'narrow exception to the exclusionary rule'—but in cases such as this, where the State has met its burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the contraband at issue would have been discovered lawfully, exclusion would be purely punitive and inappropriate.

*Id.*, ¶ 13 (citing *State v. Jackson*, 2016 WI 56, ¶¶ 70-72, 369 Wis. 2d 673, 882 N.W.2d 422).

Mr. Nelson petitions this Court for review.

#### ARGUMENT

I. Excluding evidence after an improper inventory search would not be purely punitive, but would have a deterrent effect in incentivizing law enforcement to follow their department's standard policies and procedures.

The Fourth Amendment ensures "the right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. Const. IV; *also see* Wis. Const. Art. 1, sec. 11. Warrantless searches are *per se* unreasonable, subject to a few carefully delineated exceptions. *State v. Boggess*, 115 Wis. 2d 443, 449, 340 N.W.2d 516 (Wis. 1983).

An inventory search is one of these delineated exceptions. Law enforcement may conduct inventory searches of impounded vehicles in order to secure or protect the car and its contents. *Thompson v. State*, 83 Wis. 2d 134, 140, 26 N.W.2d 467 (Wis. 1978). Wisconsin courts have been guided by two principles in determining the reasonableness of an inventory search: (1) law enforcement must follow standardized procedures for inventorying property; and (2) the inventory search may not be conducted in bad faith, where it is used as a subterfuge for investigating a crime. *Colorado v. Bertine*, 47 U.S. 367, 372, 374 (1987); *Thompson*, 83 Wis. 2d at 140.

Evidence that is seized pursuant to an illegal search must be suppressed pursuant to the

exclusionary rule. *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643, 660 (1961). In addition, all derivative evidence as a result of the illegality is inadmissible. *State v. Schneidewind*, 47 Wis. 2d 110, 118, 176 N.W.2d 303 (Wis. 1970) (citing *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471 (1963)). One of the exceptions is the inevitable discovery rule, which allows the fruits of an otherwise illegal search to be admitted if there is a preponderance of the evidence that the evidence would have been inevitably discovered by lawful means. *State v. Washington*, 120 Wis. 2d 654, 664, 358 N.W.2d 304 (Ct. App. 1984) (quoting *Nix v. Williams*, 467 U.S. 431, 444 (1984)).

The exclusionary rule "is calculated to prevent, not to repair. Its purpose is to deter—to compel respect for the constitutional guaranty in the only effectively available way---by removing the incentive to disregard it." *Elkins v. United States*, 364 U.S. 206, 217 (1960). It is to encourage law enforcement to conduct themselves lawfully while conducting searches and seizures of individuals and their homes and property. *See Id.* 

The Court of Appeals concluded that "in cases such as this, where the State has met its burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the contraband at issue would have been discovered lawfully, exclusion would be purely punitive and inappropriate." Slip Op., ¶ 13; App. at 9.

But in its analysis, the Court of Appeals did not reconcile the officer's incredible testimony regarding plain-view with his testimony that he would have *in fact* conducted the inventory search at the station. Law enforcement attempted to convince the circuit court that the contraband was in plain view, and that it was subject to an inventory search, which the circuit court found was improperly conducted contrary to police department protocol because officers conducted it at the scene, rather than after it was towed. Under this set of facts, to not exclude this evidence would send the message to law enforcement that proper training in inventory search protocols is insignificant, and can be used as a tool to seek evidence.

Ultimately, to not exclude the evidence here would override the exclusionary rule's goal of deterring police misconduct. And "while suppression in such a case may put the prosecution in a worse position because of the police misconduct, a contrary result would cause the inevitable discovery exception to swallow the rule by allowing evidence otherwise tainted to be admitted merely because the police could have chosen to act different and obtain the evidence by legal means." *United States v. Cherry*, 759 F.2d 1196, 1205 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1985) (Examined in *Jackson*, 2016 WI 56, ¶61).

## CONCLUSION

Mr. Nelson asks that this Court grant review, reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals, and order the suppression of all evidence derived from the unlawful search.