FILED 03-12-2025 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2024AP617-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Respondent,

v.

CARTER A. NELSON,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN A. BLIMLING Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1088372

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-3519 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) blimlingja@doj.state.wi.us The Plaintiff-Appellant-Respondent State of Wisconsin opposes Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner Carter A. Nelson's Petition for Review on the following grounds:

1. Nelson's Petition contends that this Court's review is necessary to address how the inevitable discovery doctrine should be applied when a police department "fail[s] to comply with standard inventory search procedures." (Pet. 3.) Nelson further argues that precluding the application of the inevitable discovery doctrine under such circumstances would serve as an appropriate deterrent to police failing to follow such standard inventory search procedures. (Pet. 10.) In reality, Nelson's position would swallow the inevitable discovery doctrine entirely. At its core, the inevitable discovery doctrine dictates that evidence should not be suppressed if the State can establish that it would have been discovered even in the absence of a constitutional violation. Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431 (1984); State v. Jackson, 2016 WI 56, 369 Wis. 2d 673, 882 N.W.2d 422. The inventory search exception to the warrant requirement is a completely separate concept implicating different Fourth Amendment principles. See Colorado v. Bertine, 479 U.S. 367, 371–72 (1987); State v.

Page 3 of 7

Clark, 2003 WI App 121, ¶ 11, 265 Wis. 2d 557, 666 N.W.2d 112. Nelson seems to believe that if the inventory search exception does not apply because certain procedures weren't followed, then the inevitable discovery doctrine cannot apply because police must be deterred from the failure to follow those procedures. But the inevitable discovery doctrine would never need to apply if the inventory search exception applied because a valid inventory search complies with the Fourth Amendment. Bertine, 479 U.S. at 371. Nelson thus attempts to create a Catch-22 that would eliminate the inevitable doctrine entirely—under his proposed rule, discoverv inevitable discovery would not apply to any situation where there was a separate constitutional violation because officers should be incentivized to avoid those violations. That position is at odds with the fact that this Court has recognized and applied inevitable discovery as recently as *Jackson* in 2016. Nelson's petition nevertheless fails to acknowledge the magnitude of the change in the law that he seeks.

2. Nelson seems to suggest that the court of appeals' conclusion that an inventory search would have occurred and revealed the cocaine in due course is incompatible with the

3

Page 4 of 7

circuit court's finding that the cocaine was not, in fact, in the officers' plain view. (Pet. 9–10.) But while the circuit court made a factual finding that the cocaine was not in plain view when the search occurred, it made no finding that Officer Goritz's testimony that an inventory search would have occurred—and the cocaine discovered regardless—was in any way inaccurate. As the court of appeals pointed out, there is no question that Nelson's vehicle would have been towed out of the roadway where it was parked and an inventory search conducted regardless of the earlier search by Officer Goritz. (Pet-App. 8–9.) The alternative would have been for officers to leave the disabled vehicle on the road in an area where parking is not allowed, something highly unlikely to happen. (R. 18:37.)

3. Inevitable discovery aside, the State preserved other arguments for appeal that would justify affirming the court of appeals' decision. For example, the State argued in the circuit court that Nelson lacked a reasonable expectation of privacy in the vehicle because it was abandoned. (R. 18:30–31.) The circuit court did not address this argument directly, other than to say that "obviously the car was

4

Page 5 of 7

abandoned or so it appeared at least." (R. 18:37.) But if this Court were to grant Nelson's petition, it would not even need to address his stated reason for granting review because it could affirm on this basis alone. The law is clear that a person lacks a reasonable expectation of privacy in abandoned property. Abel v. United States, 362 U.S. 217, 241 (1960); State v. Roberts, 196 Wis. 2d 445, 453, 538 N.W.2d 825 (Ct. App. 1995). And the record here is clear that Nelson's vehicle was abandoned—it was "parked in some cockamamy angle on the side of a roadway where there's no parking allowed," and it was cold, indicating it had been there for some time without the owner reporting it. (R. 18:15, 37.) Indeed, during the entire time officers were on the scene—over three hours—Nelson never returned to the vehicle. (R. 18:37.) The doors were not locked. (R. 18:18.) In short, the facts of record, taken together, illustrate that Nelson had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the vehicle, meaning that the search did not violate the Fourth Amendment. *Rawlings v. Kentucky*, 448 U.S. 98, 104 (1980).

4. In sum, the Petition does not meet this Court's criteria for review because it would involve only the

 $\mathbf{5}$

application of settled legal precedent to the facts. A grant of review in this case would offer little opportunity for this Court to develop the law. This Court should therefore deny the Petition.

Dated this 12th day of March 2025.

Respectfully submitted,

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

Electronically signed by:

John A. Blimling JOHN A. BLIMLING Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1088372

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-3519 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) blimlingja@doj.state.wi.us

FORM AND LENGTH CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that this petition or response conforms to the rules contained in Wis. Stat. §§ (Rules) 809.19(8)(b), (bm) and 809.62(4) for a petition or response produced with a proportional serif font. The length of this petition or response is 818 words.

Dated this 12th day of March 2025.

Electronically signed by:

<u>John A. Blimling</u> JOHN A. BLIMLING Assistant Attorney General